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A drawing by Sitting Bull 
depicting his duel with a 
Crow chief in 1856. Sitting 
Bull killed the chief, but the 
Crow wounded Sitting Bull in 
two places. The wound to his 
left foot caused him to walk 
with a slight limp for the rest 
of his life.

BUFFALO BILL CENTER OF THE 

WEST

Sitting Bull captures an 
Assiniboine boy, 1857. Sitting 
Bull adopted this boy as his 
brother and eventually gave 
him the name Jumping Bull, 
the name of Sitting Bull’s 
father. The two remained 
close for the rest of their days. 
Drawing by Sitting Bull.

BUFFALO BILL CENTER OF THE 

WEST

Sitting Bull’s fight with 
Corporal Jefferson Dilts, 
September 2, 1864. In this 
work, a copy made by Four 
Horns of a now-missing 
Sitting Bull drawing, Dilts 
bleeds from an arrow shot by 
the Húnkpapa chief while the 
corporal shoots and wounds 
Sitting Bull in the left hip.

NATIONAL ANTHROPOLOGICAL 

ARCHIVES
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Sitting Bull, photographed by Orlando S. Goff at the Standing Rock 
Agency in early August 1881, less than a month after the chief ’s 
surrender to the U.S. Army.

COURTESY OF THE AUTHOR
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Gall (Phizí)—Húnkpapa war chief, 
Little Big Horn veteran, and Sitting 
Bull’s onetime lieutenant. During 
the reservation years, Gall was a 
strong “progressive” and a favorite 
of Standing Rock Indian agent James 
McLaughlin.

NEWBERRY LIBR ARY

One Bull, nephew of Sitting Bull and  
Little Big Horn veteran, photographed at 
Fort Randall in 1882. The vivid recollections 
of One Bull and his brother, White Bull,  
were obtained by author Walter Campbell 
(pen name Stanley Vestal) in the late  
1920s and early ’30s.

COURTESY OF THE AUTHOR

Frank Grouard, the son of a Mormon 
missionary and a Polynesian woman, 
lived for several years with the 
northern Lakotas, becoming a trusted 
friend of both Sitting Bull and  
Crazy Horse. Grouard later became  
a scout for the U.S. Army and  
betrayed that friendship by helping  
the Long Knives hunt down the  
free-roaming Sioux and Cheyennes.

NEWBERRY LIBR ARY
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Left: Horn Chips, famed Oglala 
holy man and cousin of Crazy 
Horse, with his wife, Feels All 
Around It, 1907. Horn Chips made 
protective “war medicine” and 
other charms for his cousin.

NEBR ASK A STATE HISTORICAL SOCIETY

He Dog, lifelong friend of Crazy 
Horse and Little Big Horn veteran. 
Photographed here as part of a 
Sioux and Arapaho delegation to 
Washington, D.C., in September 1877.

LIBR ARY OF CONGRESS

Little Big Man, onetime 
lieutenant of Crazy Horse and 
Little Big Horn veteran. Little 
Big Man later played a despicable 
part in the war chief ’s death. 
Photographed in Washington, 
D.C., September 1877.

LIBR ARY OF CONGRESS
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Scalping, committed by 
both Indians and whites, 
came to symbolize the 
warfare on the Great 
Plains. “My people 
took scalps,” explained 
Luther Standing Bear, 
“only to prove their 
stories that they had 
met the enemy and 
overpowered him.” 
This 1868 engraving 
appeared in the French 
journal Le Tour du 
Monde.

COURTESY OF THE AUTHOR

The mutilation of dead enemies ensured that they would enter the land of 
ghosts in that same condition. This unfortunate victim, Sergeant Frederick 
Wyllyams of the Seventh U.S. Cavalry, was killed June 26, 1867, in  
western Kansas. The dead of Custer’s men at the Little Big Horn were  
treated much the same way.

THE NELSON-ATKINS MUSEUM OF ART
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Above left: Red Cloud, fierce Oglala war 
chief and leader of the Bad Face band. 
He vowed to fight to the death until the 
forts in the Powder River country were 
abandoned, which happened in 1868.  
Red Cloud subsequently signed the 
Treaty of Fort Laramie and never again 
went to war against the whites.

NATIONAL ANTHROPOLOGICAL ARCHIVES

Above right: They Fear Even His Horses, 
hereditary chief of the Oglalas, smokes 
his pipe in a council with peace 
commissioners at Fort Laramie, May 
1868. Photograph by Alexander Gardner.

NATIONAL ANTHROPOLOGICAL ARCHIVES

Left: Spotted Tail, head chief of the Brulé 
tribe and uncle of Crazy Horse. Like 
Red Cloud, he fell into disfavor with 
both Sitting Bull and Crazy Horse for 
not joining them in their war against the 
white man and for signing away Lakota 
lands.

NEWBERRY LIBR ARY
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This drawing is believed to 
depict the August 5, 1873, 
“Battle” of Massacre Canyon, 
in which Crazy Horse was a 
participant. The drawing is 
one of ten contained in a small 
ledger book that Crazy Horse 
presented to a journalist in 
May 1877. Crazy Horse said 
the drawings represented the 
life of a famous warrior, but he 
wouldn’t say whether or not 
that warrior was himself.

DENVER ART MUSEUM

Last Stand Hill at Little 
Big Horn Battlefield, 
Montana. “The people 
in the States blame me 
for having killed Custer 
and his army,” Sitting 
Bull said in 1878. “He 
came to attack me, and 
in sufficient numbers 
to show me that they 
wanted to destroy me 
and my children.”

PHOTOGRAPH BY THE  AUTHOR

Looking west from Last 
Stand Hill to the valley 
of the Greasy Grass 
(Little Big Horn). On 
June 25, 1876, the valley 
held a thousand lodges, 
homes to more than 
five thousand Sioux and 
Cheyennes. The village 
stretched along the stream 
for a mile and a half.

PHOTOGRAPH BY THE AUTHOR
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Two Moons, Northern Cheyenne chief. In 
describing the Little Big Horn battle, Two Moons 
said the “smoke was like a great cloud, and 
everywhere the Sioux went the dust rose like 
smoke. We circled all round [Custer]—swirling like 
water around a stone. We shoot, we ride fast, we 
shoot again. Soldiers drop, and horses fall on them.”

NEWBERRY LIBR ARY

Wooden Leg, Northern Cheyenne, 
holding a Springfield carbine 
captured at the Little Big Horn. 
His autobiography, published 
in 1931 as A Warrior Who Fought 
Custer, is one of the best accounts 
of the Cheyennes’ and Lakotas’ 
last years of freedom and their 
warfare with the Long Knives.

COURTESY OF THE AUTHOR

Hunts the Enemy (George Sword).  
A former warrior under Crazy Horse 
and a nephew of Red Cloud, Hunts 
the Enemy traveled to Crazy Horse’s 
camp in the spring of 1877 and helped 
persuade the chief to go to the Red 
Cloud Agency and surrender with 
his people. Hunts the Enemy is 
pictured here as a Metal Breast (Indian 
policeman) at the Pine Ridge Agency.

NEWBERRY LIBR ARY
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Camp Robinson and the Red Cloud Buttes in 1877, the year of Crazy Horse’s death.

NEWBERRY LIBR ARY

Lieutenant William Philo Clark and Little 
Hawk, uncle of Crazy Horse, 1877. Clark, 
head of the Indian scouts at Camp Robinson, 
failed in his efforts to manipulate or “work” 
Crazy Horse, and later commented that the 
chief ’s death “will save trouble.”

NATIONAL ANTHROPOLOGICAL ARCHIVES

Camp Robinson interpreters Baptiste 
“Big Bat” Pourier (left) and William 
“Billy” Garnett (right), circa 1877. 
Pourier was at Crazy Horse’s deathbed 
and recalled the warrior’s last words.

NEWBERRY LIBR ARY
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Ellen “Nellie” Larabee proposed to 
Crazy Horse in the summer of 1877 
and subsequently shared his lodge 
with Black Shawl, the chief ’s first wife. 
The multilingual Nellie kept Crazy 
Horse informed of the news and gossip 
circulating through the villages and  
at Camp Robinson.

COURTESY OF THE AUTHOR

The killing of Crazy 
Horse as imagined by 
Oglala artist Amos Bad 
Heart Bull (1869–1913).

UNIVERSITY OF CINCINNATI 

ARCHIVES AND R ARE BOOKS 

LIBR ARY

The reconstructed 
Camp Robinson 
guardhouse. Crazy 
Horse was bayonetted 
just outside the 
guardhouse door.

PHOTOGR APH BY THE 

AUTHOR
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An engraving based on 
German artist Rudolf 
Cronau’s sketch of Sitting 
Bull made at Fort Randall 
on October 25, 1881.

NEWBERRY LIBR ARY

James McLaughlin,  
Standing Rock Indian agent 
and Sitting Bull’s greatest 
adversary during his 
reservation years. A Jesuit 
priest at Standing Rock 
wrote that McLaughlin had 
“the cunning of Satan.”

COURTESY OF THE AUTHOR
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Left: Sitting Bull and William F. “Buffalo 
Bill” Cody, photographed by William 
Notman & Son in Montreal, Canada, 
August 1885. Sitting Bull toured with 
Cody’s Wild West for only one season.

COURTESY OF THE AUTHOR

Below: Ghost Dance at Sitting Bull’s 
camp, Grand River, December 1890. 
This photograph was taken by Chicago 
Herald correspondent Sam T. Clover 
with a small Kodak box camera. Clover 
wrote that one of Sitting Bull’s wives 
“eyed my black box very suspiciously 
and vented a grunt of disapproval as she 
caught the sharp click of the button.”

MINNESOTA HISTORICAL SOCIETY

Kicking Bear—Little Big Horn veteran, 
cousin of Crazy Horse, nephew of 
Sitting Bull, and Ghost Dance holy man. 
At Sitting Bull’s request, Kicking Bear 
taught the Ghost Dance religion to  
the Lakotas on Grand River.

NEWBERRY LIBR ARY
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The arrest and death of Sitting Bull, 
December 15, 1890, painted by Thomas 
Stone Man, circa 1920. Stone Man, a 
Yanktonai, was a member of the Metal 
Breast detachment that came to arrest  
the holy man.

PRIVATE COLLECTION

Second Sergeant Red Tomahawk of 
the Standing Rock Metal Breasts. Red 
Tomahawk put a bullet in Sitting Bull’s 
head after the holy man had been 
fatally shot in the chest by Lieutenant 
Bull Head.

NATIONAL ANTHROPOLOGICAL ARCHIVES

Crow Foot, Sitting Bull’s son 
by Whole Tribe Seeing Her. At 
the conclusion of the fight with 
Sitting Bull’s followers, the Metal 
Breasts discovered the sixteen-
year-old boy hiding underneath 
his metal bed and murdered him.

COURTESY OF THE AUTHOR
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This painting by Caroline Weldon 
hung in the cabin behind Sitting Bull’s. 
It was not painted from life but is 
copied from one of the photographs 
made of Sitting Bull in Montreal in 
1885. The large gash in the left side of 
the canvas was made by a Metal Breast 
who tried to destroy the painting 
but then was stopped by an army 
lieutenant.

STATE HISTORICAL SOCIETY OF  

NORTH DAKOTA

These bloodstained cabinet 
card portraits were found in 
Sitting Bull’s clothing after 
his death. The photograph 
on the left is a portrait of 
“Captain Jack” Crawford and 
is inscribed by Crawford to 
Sitting Bull. The photograph 
on the right is identified only 
as “Sitting Bull’s ‘pet.’” The 
holy man loved children 
and this white child is 
undoubtedly someone he 
knew.

SOUTH DAKOTA STATE HISTORICAL 

SOCIETY

Sitting Bull’s wives and 
daughters pose in front of 
his cabin shortly after his 
death. Left to right: Lodge in 
Sight, Four Robes, Whole 
Tribe Seeing Her, and 
Standing Holy.

COURTESY OF THE AUTHOR
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Above: Standing Rock Metal Breasts, survivors 
of the fight at Sitting Bull’s camp, taken five 
days after the botched arrest attempt. The man 
on horseback on the left is Agent McLaughlin.

COURTESY OF THE AUTHOR

Above left: Sitting Bull’s death made front pages and headlines around the 
world. The garish illustration at the bottom of this December 31, 1890, 
Christian Herald is supposed to depict Sitting Bull’s “last campfire.”

AUTHOR’S COLLECTION

This photograph was sold as a souvenir at the Sitting Bull cabin exhibit at the 
1893 World’s Columbian Exposition. It purports to be a reenactment of Sitting 
Bull’s arrest but is wholly inaccurate. The image does picture the cabin at its 
original location on Grand River before it was disassembled. The timbers and 
bent saplings in the foreground are the framework for a sweat lodge, used by 
the Ghost Dancers to purify themselves before participating in the dance.

COURTESY OF THE AUTHOR
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Sitting Bull’s grave at Fort 
Yates, circa 1910, from a 
photographic postcard.

COURTESY OF THE AUTHOR

Sitting Bull’s original  
grave site at Fort Yates as  
it appears today.

PHOTOGR APH BY THE AUTHOR

Sitting Bull’s grave site 
overlooking the Missouri River 
opposite Mobridge, South 
Dakota. Whether all of Sitting 
Bull’s remains, some of his 
remains, or none of his remains 
are buried here is unknown.

PHOTOGR APH BY THE AUTHOR
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AMERICAN INDIAN INFORMANTS

If the white historians were half as careful in their statements 
as these Indians, history would be a nobler thing.

WA LTER CA MPBELL (STA N LE Y VE STA L), STA N DING 

ROCK RE SERVATION, SEPTEMBER 6, 1929

In researching and writing this book, I consulted dozens of interviews 
(i.e., oral histories) of Indian contemporaries of Crazy Horse and Sitting 
Bull, both published and unpublished, as well as the known words and 
sayings of the two Lakota leaders themselves. The interviews were 
conducted, transcribed, and preserved over many years by a number 
of farsighted and dedicated men and women, including Walter Mason 
Camp, Eli Ricker, Thomas Marquis, Walter Campbell, John G. Neihardt, 
James R. Walker, E. A. Brininstool, Eleanor Hinman, Mari Sandoz, and 
David Humphreys Miller, among others. A very few accounts were 
written and preserved by the Lakotas themselves, Josephine Waggoner 
being a prime example. These first-person accounts are fully cited in 
my endnotes. However, because not every reader consults a book’s end-
notes, and because many of the informants’ names do not appear in my 
main narrative, I am recognizing those individuals again here. I have 
also included informants who, though living after the time of Crazy 
Horse and Sitting Bull, had knowledge of these men and their times 
passed down through tribal elders and/or family members.
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Brulé

Hollow Horn Bear 
Susan Bordeaux Bettelyoun
William J. Bordeaux
Bear Stands Up
Short Bull

Húnkpapa

Sitting Bull
Circling Hawk
Gall
Gray Eagle
Grover Eagle Boy
Four Horns
Four Robes
Her Eagle Robe (Mary Crawler)
Little Soldier
Crow King
Pretty White Buffalo Woman
Josephine Waggoner
Ernie LaPointe
Old Bull
One Bull
Scarlet Whirlwind Woman (Mrs. 

One Bull)
Shoots Walking
Otter Robe
Rain in the Face
One Elk
Two Bull
White Bird

Miniconjou

White Bull 
Dewey Beard (Iron Hail)
Iron Thunder
Standing Bear
Eagle Shield
Swelled Face

Oglala

Crazy Horse
Red Feather
William “Billy” Garnett
He Alone Is a Man
Frank Kicking Bear
Luther Standing Bear
He Dog
Iron Hawk
Iron Horse
Eagle Hawk
Little Wound
Low Dog
Mathew H. King
Horn Chips
Eagle Elk
Mark Spider
Black Elk
Fire Thunder
Wide Road
Chasing Hawk
Flying Hawk
Joseph White Cow Bull
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John No Ears
Short Bull
Little Killer
They Fear Even His Horses
Thomas Tyon
Rocky Bear
Thunder Bear
Frank Kicking Bear
Red Sack
Red Hawk
Victoria Conroy

Santee

Charles A. Eastman

Sihásapa

Crawler
Red Tomahawk

Two Kettle

Runs the Enemy
Eagle Woman That All Look At 

(Matilda Galpin)

Yanktonai

Bear’s Ghost
Francis Benjamin “Frank” Zahn

Northern Cheyenne

John Stands in Timber
Young Two Moons
Two Moons
Wooden Leg
James Tangled Yellow Hair
Little Hawk
White Elk

Southern Cheyenne

Antelope Woman (Kate Bighead)
George Bent

Cheyenne River Sioux

Little Wounded

Arickara

Red Star

Tribal Affiliation Uncertain

Shot in the Face
Iron Bull
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NOTES

Abbreviations

CC:	 Walter Stanley Campbell Collection, University of Oklahoma, 
Western History Collections

NA:	 National Archives documents accessed at https://catalog.archives 
.gov

NA-KC:	 National Archives at Kansas City, Missouri
RG 75:	 Record Group 75, Records of the Bureau of Indian Affairs, 1793–1999
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	 1	 “A charger, he is coming”: Raymond J. DeMallie, ed., The Sixth Grandfather: 
Black Elk’s Teachings Given to John G. Neihardt (Lincoln: University of Nebraska 
Press, 1984), 198.

	 1	 Sitting Bull carefully dressed: Sitting Bull’s offering was related by One Bull, a 
nephew of Sitting Bull, to Robert Higheagle. See Robert Higheagle, “Twenty-
Five Songs Made by Sitting Bull,” typescript in CC, box 104, folder 18. An ex-
ample of a Lakota offering stick was collected by Frances Densmore on the 
Standing Rock Reservation in the early 1900s. It’s part of the collections of the 
National Museum of the American Indian, Washington, D.C., catalog num-
ber 6/7988.

	 1	 about five feet, ten inches tall: The estimate of Sitting Bull’s height is from 
the New York Herald journalist James Creelman, who met Sitting Bull at Fort 
Randall in 1881. His report of that encounter is reprinted in the Abbeville Press 
and Banner, Abbeville, SC, November 30, 1881. Artist De Cost Smith, who got 
to know Sitting Bull well at Standing Rock, described him as “above middle 
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height.” De Cost Smith, Red Indian Experiences (London: George Allen & Un-
win Ltd., 1949), 184.

	 1	 walked with a slight limp: One Bull interview, CC, box 104, folder 11; and Cir-
cling Hawk interview, CC, box 105, folder 13.

	 2	 more than five thousand souls: The size of the Indian village on the Little Big 
Horn in June 1876 has captured the attention of scholars for decades, with 
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revised down to more conservative estimates, actually falling in line with the 
careful analysis made by famed Santee (Eastern Sioux) author Charles A. East-
man 120 years ago. See his “The Story of the Little Big Horn (Told from the 
Indian standpoint by one of their race),” The Chautauquan 31 ( July 1900): 354, 
and his letter of September 30, 1914, in Warren K. Moorehead, The American 
Indian in the United States, Period 1850–1914 (Andover, MA: The Andover Press, 
1914), 199. In an interview with Major Marcus A. Reno in 1885, Sitting Bull and 
his interpreter came up with an estimate of more than seven hundred lodges 
and between five and six thousand people in the village. “Questioning Sitting 
Bull About Custer’s Defeat,” Wheeling Sunday Register, WV, June 28, 1885. See 
also Gregory F. Michno, Lakota Noon: The Indian Narrative of Custer’s Defeat 
(Missoula, MT: Mountain Press Publishing Company, 1997), 4–20.

	 2	 “Great Spirit, pity me”: As quoted by One Bull in Higheagle, “Twenty-Five 
Songs Made by Sitting Bull,” CC. For additional descriptions of Sitting Bull’s 
offering, see Ernie LaPointe, Sitting Bull: His Life and Legacy (Salt Lake City: 
Gibbs Smith, 2009), 67; One Bull interview, David Humphreys Miller, “Echoes 
of the Little Bighorn,” American Heritage 22 (June 1971): 30; and Stanley Vestal, 
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1957), 158.

	 3	 “where the girl saved her brother”: John Stands in Timber and Margot Liberty, 
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versity of Oklahoma Press, 2013), 422.

	 3	 Crazy Horse urged them on: David Humphreys Miller, Ghost Dance (New York: 
Duell, Sloan and Pearce, 1959), 289.

	 4	 Box Elder had the gift: Peter J. Powell, Sweet Medicine: The Continuing Role of 
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	 4	 disturbed by a dream: Young Two Moons interview, CC, box 105, folder 15.
	 4	 “We had driven away the soldiers”: Thomas B. Marquis, interpreter, A Warrior 

Who Fought Custer (Minneapolis: The Midwest Company, 1931), 214.
	 4	 sitting on the banks fishing: Thomas B. Marquis, interpreter, She Watched 

Custer’s Last Battle (1933; reprint: Scottsdale, AZ: Cactus Pony, c. 1969), 2.
	 4	 women were out digging turnips: Dewey Beard interview, Miller, “Echoes of 

the Little Bighorn,” 38.
	 4	 village would be moving soon: Marquis, She Watched Custer’s Last Battle, 2.
	 5	 Iron Hail: In later years, Iron Hail would go by the name Dewey Beard. See 

Philip Burnham, Song of Dewey Beard: Last Survivor of the Little Bighorn (Lin-
coln: University of Nebraska Press, 2014).

	 5	 “When you finish eating”: Beard interview, Miller, “Echoes of the Little Big-
horn,” 38.
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ton: Houghton Mifflin Company, 1933), 50.

	 5	 “Soldiers are here!”: Marquis, A Warrior Who Fought Custer, 217.
	 5	 women and children struggled to catch: Low Dog and Iron Thunder interviews 

in Jamestown Alert, Jamestown, ND, August 19, 1881; and Gall interview in the 
Republican Journal, Belfast, ME, June 24, 1897.

	 6	 old clothes exchanged for fancy dress: Marquis, A Warrior Who Fought Custer, 218.
	 6	 grabbed his trade gun: One Bull interview, Miller, “Echoes of the Little Big-

horn,” 30–31.
	 6	 shield held tremendous significance: Sitting Bull’s shield is well documented, 

including its depiction in drawings made by Sitting Bull illustrating his 
warrior exploits. See One Bull interviews, CC, box 104, folder 11, and box 105, 
folder 19; Stanley Vestal, New Sources of Indian History, 1850–1891 (Norman: Uni-
versity of Oklahoma Press, 1934), 154–55; and Four Horns drawings (copies of 
autobiographical drawings made by Sitting Bull), Manuscript 1929A, National 
Anthropological Archives, Smithsonian Institution (available for online view-
ing here: https://learninglab.si.edu/search?st=Four%20Horns).

	 6	 “Go right ahead”: One Bull interview, CC, box 105, folder 19. In his interview 
with David Humphreys Miller, One Bull claimed that Sitting Bull instructed 
him to meet the attacking soldiers and “parley with them, if you can. If they 
are willing, tell them I will talk peace with them.” This is highly unlikely. For 
one thing, it was clear that the village was already under attack, and it was 
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	 6	 left to find his aged mother: One Bull interview, Miller, “Echoes of the Little 
Bighorn,” 31.

	 6	 “old man chief”: Marquis, A Warrior Who Fought Custer, 57 and 211; and James 
Tangled Yellow Hair interview in Ronald H. Limbaugh, ed., Cheyenne and 
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	 7	 “I am Two Moons”: Hamlin Garland, “General Custer’s Last Fight as Seen 

by Two Moon[s],” McClure’s Magazine 11 (September 1898): 446. The North-
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most contemporary newspaper accounts, including his 1917 obituary, use 
“Two Moons.” His fellow Cheyennes knew him as Ree Roman Nose. “Two 
Moons, Greatest Indian Survivor of Custer Battle, Dies,” The Billings Gazette, 
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	 7	 impatient warriors: Standing Bear interview, Kenneth Hammer, ed., Custer in 

’76: Walter Camp’s Notes on the Custer Fight (Provo, UT: Brigham Young Univer-
sity Press, 1976), 215.

	 7	 a warrior was also meant to suffer: Robert Higheagle manuscript, CC, box 104, 
folder 22.
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	 8	 Crazy Horse drew a zigzag line: Horn Chips interview, Jensen, Voices of the 
American West, 1: 274. White Bull, a nephew of Sitting Bull, stated that Crazy 
Horse painted his face with white dots before a fight, but neither Horn Chips, 
Crazy Horse’s holy man, nor He Dog, who was a close friend of Crazy Horse, 
mention this detail when describing how Crazy Horse prepared himself for 
battle. And Eagle Elk, a cousin of Crazy Horse, told John G. Neihardt that 
Crazy Horse “did not paint” himself when preparing for a fight. See White 
Bull account in Vestal, New Sources, 320; and Eagle Elk interview, 1944, John G. 
Neihardt Papers (C3716), The State Historical Society of Missouri Research 
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	 8	 lightning of the Thunder Beings: Mathew H. King interview, Edward Kadlecek 
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	 8	 spotted eagle’s dried heart: Horn Chips interview, Jensen, Voices of the American 
West, 1: 277.

	 8	 medicine for Crazy Horse’s pony: Ibid., 274.
	 8	 dirt of a gopher hill: William Garnett interview, Voices of the American West, 1: 
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dirt on about ten of the younger warriors with him. See Joseph G. Masters, 
Shadows Fall Across the Little Horn (Laramie: University of Wyoming Library, 
1951), 41.

	 8	 no bullet could touch him: Horn Chips interview, Voices of the American West, 1: 
277; and Dewey Beard (Iron Hail), “Dewey Beard: The Last Survivor,” inter-
view typescript (1955), in Black Hills Nuggets, Commemorative Edition, 1776-1876-
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	 8	 white-faced pony: Black Elk interview, The Sixth Grandfather, 182.
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his own height, which was five feet, ten inches when White Bull was in his 
eighties. Short Bull, who also knew Crazy Horse, said the famed warrior 
was “a trifle under six feet tall.” See Walter S. Campbell to Eleanor Hinman, 
Norman, OK, October 13, 1932, CC, box 117; and Short Bull interview, Hinman 
Interviews, 43.

	 9	 eight horses shot out: Red Feather interview, Hinman Interviews, 36; and Stand-
ing Bear, Land of the Spotted Eagle, 180.

	 9	 The battle had commenced: The three companies—A, G, and M—formed a 
battalion of the Seventh U.S. Cavalry under the command of Major Marcus 
Reno. Reno’s commanding officer, was, of course, Lieutenant Colonel George 
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	 9	 “Crazy Horse is coming!”: Black Elk interview, The Sixth Grandfather, 182.
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	 10	 a soldier riding a sorrel horse: Red Hawk interview with Edmond S. Meany, 
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	 13	 knew him by the name Teat: Teat’s English name was Isaiah Dorman. For a 
biographical sketch, see Kenneth Hammer, Men with Custer: Biographies of the 
7th Cavalry, ed. Ronald H. Nichols (Hardin, MT: Custer Battlefield Historical 
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Ghost claimed that Sitting Bull approached the Black man, recognized him as 
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also said that Sitting Bull gave the dying man a drink of water. However, Sit-
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	 14	 Two companies of cavalry: These were Companies E and F of the Seventh, and 

the large, dry gulch is today known as Medicine Tail Coulee. 
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	 15	 reins to Flying Hawk: Ibid., 28.
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	 16	 shoot from the ground: He Dog interview, Hinman Interviews, 25.
	 16	 shot several rounds: McCreight, Chief Flying Hawk’s Tales, 28.
	 16	 stuck in their rumps: Marquis, A Warrior Who Fought Custer, 230.
	 16	 aim for the horse holders: Valentine McGillycuddy, “That ‘Suicide’ of Gen. 

George A. Custer, U.S. Army,” typescript, Elmo Scott Watson Papers, The 
Newberry; and Gall interview, Burdick, ed., David F. Barry’s Indian Notes, 27.

	 16	 waved blankets and yelled: Gall interview, The Republican Journal, June 24, 1897.
	 16	 “brave songs”: Standing Bear, Land of the Spotted Eagle, 217.
	 16	 “It is a good day to fight”: As quoted in McGillycuddy, “That ‘Suicide’ of Gen. 

George A. Custer.”
	 17	 “He rode closest”: Waterman interview, Col. W. A. Graham, The Custer Myth: A 
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	 17	 known to the Lakotas as a “bravery run”: Also called a “brave-heart run.”
	 17	 through the gauntlet: Crazy Horse’s ride through the soldiers took place in 

the middle of what is now known as Battle Ridge. The troopers were men 
from Captain Miles Keogh’s Company I, as well as men from Companies L 
and C, who’d fled north from “Calhoun Hill” moments before when those 
companies collapsed under the assault of overwhelming numbers of warriors. 
For specific warrior references to Crazy Horse’s daring bravery run, see He 
Dog interview, Hammer, ed., Custer in ’76, 207; Red Feather interview, Har-
dorff, ed., Lakota Recollections of the Custer Fight, 87–88; Mark Spider interview, 
Masters, Shadows Fall Across the Little Horn, 41–42; and White Bull interview, 
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CC, box 105, folder 24. White Bull told Walter Campbell (Stanley Vestal) that 
Crazy Horse charged through the “infantry” and that White Bull followed 
him. He would tell a different and more elaborate tale to David Humphreys 
Miller in 1939. In this latter interview, reportedly conducted through Indian 
sign language, White Bull claimed he dared Crazy Horse to make a charge at 
the soldiers but Crazy Horse refused. Additionally, White Bull said he made a 
bravery run through the troopers—twice. And last but not least, he took the 
credit for killing Custer. I find this version of White Bull’s experiences in the 
battle highly questionable. See Joseph White Bull interview, Miller, “Echoes 
of the Little Bighorn,” 35–36.

2 / Becoming Warriors

	 19	 “Son, I never want to see”: Standing Bear, Land of the Spotted Eagle, 40.
	 19	 a series of colorful drawings: These drawings are split among three institu-

tions: the Buffalo Bill Center of the West, Cody, Wyoming; the Niles History 
Center, Niles, Michigan; and the National Anthropological Archives, Smith-
sonian Institution, Washington, D.C. Another set of forty autobiographical 
drawings was created by Sitting Bull sometime prior to 1870. They were last 
in the possession of Sitting Bull’s adopted brother, Jumping Bull, but are now 
lost. However, Sitting Bull’s uncle, Four Horns, made at least two sets of cop-
ies. The only known surviving set of copies is in the National Anthropological 
Archives. See the excellent articles by Ron McCoy: “Sitting Bull: A Hunkpapa 
Lakota Chronicles His Life of Dauntless Courage,” American Indian Art Maga-
zine 40 (Winter 2014): 34–45; and “Four Horns: A Hunkpapa Lakota Warrior-
Artist Commemorates His Relative’s Valor,” American Indian Art Magazine 39 
(Spring 2014): 42–51.

	 19	 depictions of white victims: Although Sitting Bull did not create drawings de-
picting violence against whites while a prisoner at Fort Randall, the drawings 
he made prior to 1870—at a time when he and his people lived free on the 
northern plains—do show several violent encounters with white soldiers and 
civilians. At Fort Randall, in December 1881, Sitting Bull was shown the Four 
Horns set of copies mentioned above, and he “immediately recognized the 
pictures as scenes from his early life.” When asked to elaborate on the spe-
cific events depicted, however, Sitting Bull wasn’t particularly forthcoming, 
especially when it came to those drawings that showed Sitting Bull killing or 
counting coup on whites. A Presbyterian missionary who assisted with the 
interview of Sitting Bull about the drawings wrote, “We could see that any 
mention he gave of the several events was colored by the circumstances of 
his present situation.” John P. Williamson to Col. George L. Andrews, Fort 
Randall, Dakota Territory, December 12, 1881, Manuscript 1929A, National 
Anthropological Archives, Smithsonian Institution, Washington, D.C. 

	 20	 settled on 1831, possibly in March: See LaPointe, Sitting Bull, 21; Vestal, Sitting 
Bull, 3; Robert M. Utley, The Lance and the Shield: The Life and Times of Sitting 
Bull (New York: Henry Holt and Company, 1993), 335 n. 2; and White Bull in-
terview, CC, box 105, folder 4.
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	 20	 “I don’t know where I was born”: “A Chat with the Chief,” The Omaha Daily Bee, 
Omaha, NE, August 9, 1881, quoting the St. Paul Pioneer Press.

	 20	 born at a camp on Willow Creek: Ibid.; and E. H. Allison, “Sitting Bull’s Birth-
place,” South Dakota Historical Collections 6 (1912): 271.

	 20	 a pictograph showing two wagons: Candace S. Greene and Russell Thornton, 
eds., The Year the Stars Fell: Lakota Winter Counts at the Smithsonian (Lincoln: 
University of Nebraska Press, 2007), 188.

	 21	 several tons of gunpowder and lead: Lonis Wendt, “Fort Pierre Looking Back 
200 Years—the 1830s,” Capital Journal, Pierre, SD, November 18, 2016.

	 21	 a thousand gallons of whiskey: Donald Jackson, Voyages of the Steamboat Yellow 
Stone (New York: Ticknor & Fields, 1985), 2.

	 21	 forbidden by law: Francis Paul Prucha, The Great Father: The United States Gov-
ernment and the American Indians (Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press, 1995), 
100–101. In 1832, a new law strictly forbade the introduction of alcohol into 
Indian country with no exceptions. The fur companies then resorted to smug-
gling whiskey to their posts.

	 21	 ten thousand pounds of salted buffalo tongues: Daily National Intelligencer, Wash-
ington, D.C., August 1, 1831.

	 22	 a particularly shocking instance: George Catlin, Letters and Notes on the Man-
ners, Customs, and Conditions of the North American Indians, 2 vols. (1844; reprint: 
New York: Dover Publications Inc., 1973), 1: 256. Catlin accurately predicted 
the demise of the buffalo from the excesses of the robe trade, faulting both the 
Indians and the white traders who enticed them with goods and alcohol.

	 22	 When a man killed a buffalo: John No Ears interview, James R. Walker Collec-
tion, History Colorado, Denver, reel 4, frame 358.

	 22	 A gift to the Lakotas: Short Bull interview, James R. Walker, Lakota Belief and 
Ritual, edited by Raymond J. DeMallie and Elaine A. Jahner (Lincoln: Univer-
sity of Nebraska Press, 1991).

	 22	 “is ruled by his senses”: Black Elk, The Sacred Pipe: Black Elk’s Account of the 
Seven Rites of the Oglala Sioux, recorded and edited by Joseph Epes Brown (Nor-
man: University of Oklahoma Press, 1989), 7 n. 10.

	 23	 “There is no tribe on the Continent”: Catlin, Letters and Notes, 1: 210.
	 23	 “very fine and prepossessing”: Ibid., 1: 208.
	 23	 bow and arrow was easier: White Bull interview, CC, box 105, folder 8. One 

Bull told Walter Campbell that he took ten arrows when buffalo hunting. It 
was “hard to get arrows, so when One Bull killed, would jump off horse and 
get them to shoot again.” One Bull interview, CC, box 104, folder 6.

	 23	 “Life and activity everywhere”: Stephen S. Witte and Marsha V. Gallagher, eds., 
The North American Journals of Prince Maximilian of Wied, 3 vols. (Norman: Uni-
versity of Oklahoma Press, 2008–2012), 2: 142.

	 24	 “They have to do all the work”: Ibid., 2: 159.
	 24	 “They were mostly strong”: Ibid., 2: 193.
	 25	 Bodmer sketched in watercolor: See David C. Hunt and Marsha V. Gallagher, 

eds., Karl Bodmer’s America (N.p.: Joslyn Art Museum and University of Ne-
braska Press, 1984).

	 25	 “Forsakes His Home”: One Bull interview, CC, box 105, folder 19.
	 25	 a holy man himself: White Bull interview, CC, box 105, folder 24.
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	 25	 four identical shields: My discussion of Returns Again’s vision and the making 
of the shields comes from One Bull interview, CC, box 105, folder 19; White 
Bull interview, CC, box 105, folder 24; and White Bull, Old Bull, and One Bull 
interviews, CC, box 105, folder 4. In speaking of the shield Sitting Bull’s father 
had passed to his son, Robert M. Utley writes that it was constructed by a 
“specially skilled craftsman” and painted by a holy man to represent Returns 
Again’s vision. While it is true that shield-making and decorating were often 
entrusted to others with recognized skills and powers, White Bull informs us 
that Returns Again himself “was [a] medicine [holy] man in early days.” Both 
White Bull and One Bull are very clear that the shields were personally made 
by Returns Again. See Utley, The Lance and the Shield, 15. For shield-making 
as the domain of holy men, see Robert Higheagle manuscript, CC, box 104, 
folder 22; and James R. Walker, Lakota Society, ed. Raymond J. DeMallie (Lin-
coln: University of Nebraska Press, 1982), 100–101.

	 25	 The number four was sacred: See Walker, Lakota Society, 62; Black Elk, The Sa-
cred Pipe, 65 and 100 n. 5; and Standing Bear, Land of the Spotted Eagle, 122.

	 26	 knowledge of nature’s medicines: White Bull interview, CC, box 105, folder 8.
	 26	 not a “big chief”: Ibid.; Robert Higheagle manuscript, CC, box 104, folder 22; 

and “General notes on Sitting Bull,” CC, box 105, folder 42.
	 26	 commonly inherited: Sister H. Inez Hilger, ed., “The Narrative of Oscar One 

Bull,” Mid-America: An Historical Review 28 (July 1946), 151; and Valentine T. 
McGillycuddy to Elmo Scott Watson, San Francisco, CA, February 10, 1922, 
Watson Papers.

	 26	 A lodge group: The lodge group (tiospaye) and band is discussed in numerous 
sources, but I have relied primarily on Kingsley M. Bray, “Sitting Bull and 
Lakota Leadership,” English Westerners’ Society Brand Book 43 (Summer 2010), 
13–15. See also Josephine Waggoner, Witness: A Húŋkpapȟa Historian’s Stong-
Heart Song of the Lakotas, ed. Emily Levine (Lincoln: University of Nebraska, 
2013), 40–52; and Royal B. Hassrick, The Sioux: Life and Customs of a Warrior 
Society (Norman: University of Oklahoma Press, 1964), 107–8.

	 26	 make people laugh: White Bull interview, CC, box 105, folder 24. According to 
White Bull, Her Holy Door was first known by the name Mixed Day.

	 26	 manhood was planned in babyhood: Standing Bear, Land of the Spotted Eagle, 
2. Standing Bear describes the nightly ritual of cleansing and massage as he 
experienced it.

	 26	 Jumping Badger: McLaughlin, My Friend the Indian, 181; and LaPointe, Sitting 
Bull, 21.

	 26	 connection to that animal’s traits or powers: Joseph Epes Brown, Animals of the 
Soul: Sacred Animals of the Oglala Sioux (Rockport, MA: Element Books, 1997), 
66–67.

	 27	 “Slow” or “Slow-Moving”: One Bull account in Frank Bennett Fiske, Life and 
Death of Sitting Bull (Fort Yates, ND: Pioneer-Arrow Print, 1933), 4; LaPointe, 
Sitting Bull, 22; and Charles A. Eastman, Indian Heroes and Great Chieftains 
(Boston: Little, Brown, and Company, 1918), 108. In an interview with William 
Campbell, One Bull said Sitting Bull’s childhood name translated as “Slow 
Runner.” One Bull interview, CC, box 104, folder 6. What may be the earliest 
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printed reference to Sitting Bull’s nickname of “Slow” appears in “The Great 
Powwow,” The New York Herald, August 26, 1875.

	 27	 “was always last in everything”: Waggoner, Witness, 397.
	 27	 a certain deliberateness: LaPointe, Sitting Bull, 22; and Vestal, Sitting Bull, 3.
	 27	 called him by his nickname: According to Joseph Epes Brown, speaking sacred 

personal names too frequently could diminish the power acquired from the 
creature named. (In Sitting Bull’s case, the badger.) This may explain why 
the nickname was preferred over his given name. See Brown, Animals of the 
Soul, 66.

	 27	 “There was no such thing”: Standing Bear, Land of the Spotted Eagle, 14.
	 27	 “most cowardly tribe”: White Bull interview, CC, box 105, folder 4.
	 27	 Crows had lots of horses: Eagle Elk interview, Neihardt Papers.
	 27	 “bad men”: Charles Augustus Murray, Travels in North America During the Years 

1834, 1835, and 1836, 2 vols. (New York: Harper & Brothers, 1839), 2: 306.
	 28	 universal hand sign for the tribe: Ibid., 1: 286; and Clark, The Indian Sign Lan-

guage, 341.
	 28	 a son of the lodge group: Standing Bear, Land of the Spotted Eagle, 5.
	 28	 his uncle Four Horns: One Bull interview, CC, box 105, folder 19. According to 

Sitting Bull’s great-grandson, Four Horns took the young Slow into his lodge, 
where he lived for much of his youth as Four Horns trained and educated his 
nephew in the ways of a hunter and warrior. See LaPointe, Sitting Bull, 23. For 
biographical information on Four Horns, see Waggoner, Witness, 676 n. 2; and 
McCoy, “Four Horns: A Hunkpapa Lakota Warrior-Artist Commemorates 
His Relative’s Valor.”

	 28	 four virtues of Lakota men: John Lame Deer (Fire) and Richard Erdoes, Lame 
Deer: Seeker of Visions (New York: Simon & Schuster, 1972), 116. According to 
this same source, the four virtues of Lakota women were bravery, generosity, 
truthfulness, and the bearing of children. John Colhoff, a mixed-blood Lakota 
interpreter, stated the four virtues were bravery, generosity, fortitude, and 
integrity. “Sioux Indian Ways Explained,” Rapid City Journal, SD, May 9, 1944.

	 28	 “You must be brave”: Standing Bear, Land of the Spotted Eagle, 68.
	 28	 nothing hurt so much: Fiske, Life and Death of Sitting Bull, 4.
	 28	 a “brave heart”: Hilger, ed., “The Narrative of Oscar One Bull,” 169.
	 29	 tied to his pony’s back: Standing Bear, Land of the Spotted Eagle, 11.
	 29	 retrieving mounts from the camp herd: White Bull interview, CC, box 105, 

folder 8.
	 29	 help train ponies for warfare: Ibid.
	 29	 “The greatest brave was”: Standing Bear, Land of the Spotted Eagle, 15.
	 29	 well known for his kindness: Robert Higheagle manuscript, CC, box 104, 

folder 22.
	 29	 prepared feasts for them: Hilger, ed., “The Narrative of Oscar One Bull,” 152.
	 30	 “Here, take my blunt point arrow”: One Bull, “Sitting Bull’s Skill with Bow and 

Arrow,” CC, box 104, folder 21.
	 30	 creatures they shared the world with: Brown, Animals of the Soul, xi–xiii.
	 30	 the bull speak four names: There are many variations of this story. See One 

Bull and Mrs. One Bull interview, CC, box 105, folder 19; One Bull account in 

33



Fiske, Life and Death of Sitting Bull, 4–5; LaPointe, Sitting Bull, 26–27; and Vestal, 
Sitting Bull, 15–17.

	 31	 “My father gave me this nation”: Hilger, ed., “The Narrative of Oscar One 
Bull,” 152.

	 31	 few were as adept: My discussion of Sitting Bull’s mastering of various skills is 
drawn from Waggoner, Witness, 397; and White Bull interview, CC, box 106, 
folder 53. 

	 31	 “When I was ten years old”: “A Chat with the Chief,” The Omaha Daily Bee, 
August 9, 1881. White Bull said Sitting Bull was the best hunter he ever knew. 
See White Bull interview, CC, box 105, folder 8.

	 31	 That came when he was fourteen: My description of Sitting Bull’s first coup 
and the bestowing of his adult name is drawn primarily from the White Bull 
interview in the CC, box 106, folder 53; “Sitting Bull” by Josephine Waggoner, 
typescript, Josephine Waggoner Papers, Museum of the Fur Trade, Chad-
ron, NE; and Sitting Bull’s drawing of the episode as copied by Four Horns, 
National Anthropological Archives (drawing #1). See also One Bull, “Why 
Sitting Bull Wears a White Eagle Feather as a Head Ornament,” CC, box 104, 
folder 18; LaPointe, Sitting Bull, 27–29; McLaughlin, My Friend the Indian, 181; 
Vestal, Sitting Bull, 11–13; and Utley, The Lance and the Shield, 14–15. Utley writes 
that Sitting Bull’s father presented him with his shield at the time he gave him 
his name. However, White Bull states that Sitting Bull was in “lots of fights 
before shield given him.” See White Bull interview, CC, box 105, folder 56. 
Interestingly, the Sitting Bull/Four Horns drawing of this first coup depicts 
Sitting Bull carrying the famous shield of his father.

	 33	 to be known as Sitting Bull: For another version of how Sitting Bull received his 
adult name, see Eastman, Indian Heroes and Great Chieftains, 108–9.

	 33	 a five-year-old Lakota boy: Crazy Horse’s father gave the date of his son’s birth 
as the fall of 1840. See the Sun (NY), September 14, 1877. Horn Chips provided 
the same date, stating that Crazy Horse was born the year identified on win-
ter counts as when the Oglalas “stole One Hundred Horses, and in the fall of 
that year,” which was 1840–41. See Horn Chips interview, Jensen, Voices of the 
American West, 1: 273.

	 33	 The boy’s grandfather: Information on Crazy Horse’s grandfather and father 
is so scant that one hesitates to make any definitive statement about them. 
Horn Chips informs us that the name of the grandfather was Makes the Song. 
In a 2004 interview, the Lakota informants of the Crazy Horse biographer 
Kingsley Bray told him Makes the Song was a holy man. He Dog stated that 
Crazy Horse’s father “wasn’t a chief, but he was a very prominent man among 
the people.” Horn Chips interview, Jensen, Voices of the American West, 1: 273; 
Kingsley M. Bray, “Notes on the Crazy Horse Genealogy: Part 1,” http://
www.american-tribes.com/Lakota/BIO/CrazyHorse-Part1.htm; and He Dog 
narrative, Crazy Horse File, Museum of the Fur Trade. For Crazy Horse’s 
father as a holy man, see Montana Lisle Reese, ed., Legends of the Mighty Sioux 
(Chicago: Albert Whitman & Company, 1941), 110–11.

	 33	 translated as His Horse Foolish: Oglala winter count by No Ears, James R. 
Walker Collection, reel 4, frame 41. William J. Bordeaux, a onetime govern-
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ment interpreter as well as a Crazy Horse biographer, wrote that the proper 
translation was His Foolish Horse. According to William Philo Clark, who 
knew Crazy Horse, the Oglala leader’s name was “improperly interpreted” 
and should be His Horse Is Crazy. See “Sioux Translation,” The Daily Argus-
Leader, Sioux Falls, SD, July 10, 1948; and Clark’s The Indian Sign Language, 267 
and 422. 

	 33	 Rattle Blanket Woman: Also given as Rattling Blanket Woman.
	 33	 light-colored or “yellow” hair: He Dog narrative, Crazy Horse File, Museum 

of the Fur Trade, Chadron, NE; and He Dog interview, June 30, 1931, Sandoz 
Collection.

	 33	 find on a white man: Little Killer interview, Hinman Interviews, 46.
	 33	 fathered by a white man: Kingsley M. Bray, Crazy Horse: A Lakota Life, 10. Army 

scout and interpreter Frank Grouard stated that Crazy Horse was “remark-
ably white for an Indian, and many who met him imagined he was not a full-
blooded Sioux.” Joe DeBarthe, The Life and Adventures of Frank Grouard, Chief of 
Scouts, U.S.A. (St. Joseph, MO: Combe Printing Company, 1894), 347.

	 33	 nickname, Curly: In a letter to Mari Sandoz, Louis Roubideaux wrote that his 
grandfather, Blunt Arrow, told him the nickname was actually Gu-Gu-La, 
which he translated as “Kinky, like a negro’s head.” Roubideaux to Sandoz, 
Hot Springs, SD, January 26, 1944, Sandoz Collection. 

	 34	 “didn’t miss much”: Short Bull interview, Hinman Interviews, 43.
	 34	 in love with her husband’s younger brother: Bray, Crazy Horse: A Lakota Life, 10 

and 402 n. 21; Victoria Conroy statement in Richard G. Hardorff, The Oglala 
Lakota Crazy Horse: A Preliminary Genealogical Study and an Annotated Listing of 
Primary Sources (Matituck, NY: J. M. Carroll and Company, 1985), 29–32; Cleve 
Walstrom, Search for the Lost Trail of Crazy Horse (Crete, NE: Dageford Publish-
ing, Inc., 2003), 7–8; and Richard G. Hardorff, ed., The Surrender and Death of 
Crazy Horse: A Source Book About a Tragic Episode in Lakota History (Spokane, 
WA: The Arthur H. Clark Company, 1998), 75 n. 3.

	 34	 dangling from a tree: Larry Belitz, an authority on Plains Indian material 
culture who has worked closely with the Horn Chips family, maintains that 
Rattle Blanket Woman did not commit suicide but was murdered for hav-
ing a mixed-blood child. See his Chips Collection of Crazy Horse Medicines (Hot 
Springs, SD: privately printed, n.d.), 8.

	 34	 Curly’s generous invitation: This story from Crazy Horse’s childhood is from 
Santee author Charles A. Eastman, who was the agency doctor at the Pine 
Ridge Reservation from 1890 to 1893. At Pine Ridge, Eastman became person-
ally acquainted with many individuals who knew Crazy Horse, so I am in-
clined to take his information seriously. However, Eastman writes that Crazy 
Horse was four or five years old when he rode through the village offering 
fresh pronghorn. I doubt Crazy Horse was that young. See Eastman, Indian 
Heroes and Great Chieftains, 85–86. 

	 35	 an astonishing event: This episode, including quotes, is drawn from Chris 
Dixon, “Crazy Horse and the Cheyenne,” in Ronald H. Nichols, ed., The 
Brian C. Pohanka 32nd Annual Symposium, Custer Battlefield Historical & Museum 
Assn., Inc., held at Hardin, Montana, on June 22, 2018 (Fort Collins, CO: Citizen 
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Printing Company, Inc., 2019), 54–55. My description of how the Lakotas 
caught wild horses is from Luther Standing Bear, My People the Sioux (Boston: 
Houghton Mifflin Company, 1928), 77–81; and Edwin Thompson Denig, Five 
Indian Tribes of the Upper Missouri, ed. John C. Ewers (Norman: University of 
Oklahoma Press, 1961), 17 n. 20.

	 35	 “Watch the horses are come dancing”: This song is from Frank Kicking Bear, as 
quoted in Kadlecek, To Kill an Eagle, 119.

	 36	 His Horse Stands Looking: Additional names associated with a juvenile Crazy 
Horse include Yellow Hair, Light-Haired Boy, Crusher, and Owns Bad 
Woman. He Dog narrative, Crazy Horse File, Museum of the Fur Trade; 
Horn Chips interview, Hardorff, ed., Surrender and Death, 74; and personal cor-
respondence with Chris Dixon, September 18, 2019.

	 36	 With boyhood friends: He Dog account, as told to Eagle Hawk, his son, Rob-
ert A. Clark, ed., The Killing of Chief Crazy Horse, Three Eyewitness Views  .  .  . 
(Glendale, CA: The Arthur H. Clark Company, 1976), 68; and DeBarthe, Life 
and Adventures, 348.

	 36	 High Backbone: References to High Backbone (also known as Hump) and his 
relationship with young Crazy Horse are few and scattered, but see the He 
Dog and Red Feather interviews in Hinman Interviews, 24, and 36–37; Bray, 
Crazy Horse: A Lakota Life, 13; and Mari Sandoz, Crazy Horse: The Strange Man of 
the Oglalas (New York: Alfred A. Knopf, 1942), 18. The role of older Lakota boys 
as mentors is discussed by Standing Bear in his Land of the Spotted Eagle, 32.

	 36	 “the grizzly and his cub”: Eastman, Indian Heroes and Great Chieftains, 90.
	 37	 “had some power”: Ibid., 87–88.
	 37	 those who were worthy: Black Elk, The Sacred Pipe, 44.
	 37	 “did not understand the Indian’s touch”: Standing Bear, Land of the Spotted Ea-

gle, 209.
	 37	 struck by their lightning: William K. Powers, Oglala Religion (Lincoln: Univer-

sity of Nebraska Press, 1977), 93.
	 38	 “There was a trail nearby”: As quoted in M. I. McCreight, Firewater and Forked 

Tongues: A Sioux Chief Interprets U.S. History (Pasadena, CA: Trail’s End Pub-
lishing Co., Inc., 1947), 139.

	 38	 the water’s great power: Black Elk interview, The Sixth Grandfather, 123.
	 38	 Death would come: Horn Chips interview, Jensen, Voices of the American West, 1: 

277. According to William Garnett, the prediction that Crazy Horse would die 
while being held and stabbed came from a vision in which a man on horseback 
emerged from a lake and told this to the warrior. Jensen, Voices of the American 
West, 1: 117. Horn Chips, on the other hand, said, “There is no truth in the 
story of the horseman coming out of the pond and telling Crazy Horse what 
to do.”

	 38	 “If anything happens to myself”: As quoted in Kadlecek, To Kill an Eagle, 126.
	 39	 age-old foes of the Lakotas: See Witte and Gallagher, The North American Jour-

nals of Prince Maximilian of Wied, 2: 202–3; and J. N. B. Hewitt, ed., Journal of 
Rudolph Friederich Kurz: An Account of His Experiences Among Fur Traders and 
American Indians on the Mississippi and the Upper Missouri Rivers During the Years 
1846 to 1852 (Washington: Government Printing Office, 1937), 81 and 184. 
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	 39	 the two Lakotas could not be caught: The only source for the story of the 
fight with the Hidatsas is Eastman, Indian Heroes and Great Chieftains, 88–89. 
During Eastman’s time and earlier, the Hidatsas were commonly known as 
the Gros Ventres and the “Gros Ventres of the Missouri.” Eastman uses the 
shorter “Gros Ventres.” Some writers have suggested that Eastman is refer-
ring to the Atsina tribe, also known as the “Gros Ventres of the Prairies,” but 
the Hidatsas were suffering terribly at the hands of the Lakotas during this 
period. Their Indian agent wrote in 1855 that the complaints of the Hidatsas 
“against the Sioux for stealing their horses and murdering their people were 
anything but pleasant.” See Alfred J. Vaughan, Indian agent, to Col. Alfred 
Cumming, Fort Clark, September 12, 1855, Report of the Commissioner of Indian 
Affairs, S. Exec. Doc. No. 1, 34th Cong., 1st Sess., 393. In the 1947 book Chief Fly-
ing Hawk’s Tales, a similar account of the fight with the Hidatsas is given and 
attributed to Flying Hawk. However, it is clearly taken from Eastman’s earlier 
work. See McCreight, Chief Flying Hawk’s Tales, 132–33. 

	 40	 He Dog remembered the story well: He Dog interview, Hinman Interviews, 
21–22.

	 40	 “All tried to get their names up”: Horn Chips interview, Hardorff, ed., Surren-
der and Death, 76.

	 40	 “I throw away [my son’s] old name”: As quoted in Elmo Scott Watson, “Crazy 
Horse—The Greatest Among Them,” in Roderick Peattie, ed., The Black Hills 
(New York: The Vanguard Press, 1952), 131.

3 / Native Ground

	 41	 “Most of our troubles”: Standing Bear, Land of the Spotted Eagle, 40.
	 41	 Once they lived hundreds of miles east: There are many works that discuss 

early Sioux history and migrations, but I have found most useful Guy Gibbon, 
The Sioux: The Dakota and Lakota Nations (Oxford, UK: Blackwell Publishing, 
2003); and George E. Hyde, Red Cloud’s Folk: A History of the Oglala Sioux Indians 
(Norman: University of Oklahoma Press, 1957). 

	 41	 a corruption by French traders: Gibbon, The Sioux, 2; and Raymond J. DeMallie, 
“The Sioux in Dakota and Montana Territories: Cultural and Historical Back-
ground of the Ogden B. Read Collection,” in Glenn E. Markoe, ed., Vestiges of 
a Proud Nation: The Ogden B. Read Northern Plains Indian Collection (Burlington, 
VT: Robert Hull Fleming Museum, 1986), 20.

	 42	 trade networks with their Eastern Sioux cousins: Raymond J. DeMallie, Doug-
las R. Parks, and Robert Vézina, eds., A Fur Trader on the Upper Missouri: The 
Journal and Description of Jean-Baptiste Truteau, 1794–1796 (Lincoln: University of 
Nebraska Press, 2017), 93 and 261.

	 42	 “are the terror and in fact lordly masters”: William H. Thomas journal in Da-
vid A. White, ed., News of the Plains and Rockies, 1803–1865, 8 vols. (Spokane, 
WA: The Arthur H. Clark Company, 1996–2001), 1: 99.

	 42	 He wished for others to see it: This event was recorded in the winter count 
of American Horse. See Greene and Thornton, eds., The Year the Stars Fell, 
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97; and Mike Cowdrey, “A Winter Count of the Wajaje Lakota, 1758–59 to 
1885–86,” Tribal Art 19 (Autumn 2015): 132.

	 42	 “as a child to its mother’s arms”: Standing Bear, Land of the Spotted Eagle, 43.
	 43	 They called him vèho: Rev. Rodolphe Petter, English–Cheyenne Dictionary (Ket-

tle Falls, WA: Valdo Petter, 1915), 999.
	 43	 In November 1841: This episode was recorded in the journal of David Adams, 

who traded with the Lakotas from “Fort Adams,” a post very near Fort Lara-
mie. At this time, Laramie was commonly known as Fort John, for trader 
John B. Sarpy. Charles E. Hanson Jr., The David Adams Journals (Chadron, NE: 
The Museum of the Fur Trade, 1994), 19. 

	 43	 They Fear Even His Horses: The name They Fear Even His Horses has been 
translated incorrectly since the 1840s, most often as Man Afraid of His Horse. 
A variant translation is The Man Whose Horses Are a Terror to His Foes. See 
James A. Hanson, Little Chief’s Gatherings: The Smithsonian Institution’s G. K. 
Warren 1855–1856 Plains Indian Collection and the New York State Library’s 1855–1857 
Warren Expeditions Journals (Crawford, NE: The Fur Press, 1996), 110.

	 45	 an estimated five thousand emigrants: Emigrant estimates for each year from 
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	352	 received a letter from Caroline: C. Weldon to Sitting Bull, Kansas City, Novem-
ber 20, 1890, in Vestal, New Sources, 103.

	352	 Grief-stricken, Sitting Bull abruptly left: “Where’s Bull’s Body?,” Bismarck 
Weekly Tribune, December 26, 1890.

	352	 On the morning of November 16: My account of McLaughlin’s visit to Sitting 
Bull’s Grand River settlement is based almost entirely on his November 19 
report to the commissioner of Indian affairs. His visit is also described in My 
Friend the Indian, 201–8, but this version is highly embellished and, as with 
the rest of the book, he presents Sitting Bull in the poorest light possible. We 
have no account of the visit from Sitting Bull or any of his followers. James 
McLaughlin to T. J. Morgan, Standing Rock Agency, November 19, 1890, “Let-
ter from the Secretary of the Interior, Transmitting, in Response to a Senate 
Resolution of 2d Instant, a Communication from the Commissioner of In-
dian Affairs Relative to the Alleged Armament of Indians in Certain States,” 
S. Exec. Doc. No. 9, 51st Cong., 2nd Sess., 24–26.

	352	 the chief be removed to a military prison: McLaughlin to Morgan, October 17, 
1890, in Pfaller, James McLaughlin, 132.

	 353	 Several sweat lodges stood near: James Tangled Yellow Hair interview, Cheyenne 
and Sioux, 43; and Short Bull interview, Walker, Lakota Belief and Ritual, 143.

	 353	 The dancers held hands: My description of the dance is from the Short Bull 
interview, Walker, Lakota Belief and Ritual, 143, and Mary C. Collins letter in 
“Sitting Bull’s Plans,” in the Inter Ocean, December 17, 1890.

	354	 “Look here, Sitting Bull”: McLaughlin, My Friend the Indian, 205.
	 355	 calling the pair old women: Frank Zahn to W. S. Campbell, Fort Yates, SD, 

November 3, 1929, CC, box 107, folder 5.
	 355	 took several beef tongues: Fiske, Life and Death of Sitting Bull, 50; and Grover 

Eagle Boy interview, CC, box 106, folder 54.
	 355	 intending to make Ghost Dance shirts: Zahn to Campbell, November 3, 1929, CC, 

box 107, folder 5. Another version of the incident with the flour sacks is found 
in Josephine Waggoner, “Sitting Bull at the Agency,” CC, box 104, folder 14.
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	356	 several telegrams on his desk: John H. Hager to James McLaughlin, Mandan, 
ND, November 17, 1890; David Carey to James McLaughlin, Mandan, ND, 
November 18, 1890; and George H. Bingenheimer to James McLaughlin, Man-
dan, ND, November 17, 1890; all in the Frank Zahn Papers. Delia Carey was 
employed as a teacher at Standing Rock from November 1 to December 6, 
when she heeded her parents’ advice to return home to Mandan. Bismarck 
Weekly Tribune, December 19, 1890.

	356	 “We are hungry”: As quoted in Elaine Goodale, “An Indian’s View of the In-
dian Question,” 1890 clipping, Watson Papers.

	356	 “Trouble Is Expected”: The Sioux City Journal, November 20, 1890.
	356	 “Sioux Take the Warpath Today”: The Pittsburgh Post, November 22, 1890.
	356	 “Six to Eight Thousand Redskins”: The St. Joseph Herald, MO, November 22, 

1890.
	356	 Lakotas murdering whites: For example, see “Turbulent Reds,” Daily Inter 

Mountain, Butte, MT, November 22, 1890; and “Sanguinary Sioux,” St. Louis 
Globe-Democrat, November 23, 1890.

	356	 a flood of settlers abandoned homes: Ibid.; “They Buy Papers,” The St. Paul Daily 
Globe, November 30, 1890; “Still Excited,” Bismarck Weekly Tribune, November 
21, 1890; and Pfaller, James McLaughlin, 136.

	357	 “fomenters of disturbances”: R. V. Belt to McLaughlin, Washington, Novem-
ber 20, 1890, in Sixtieth Annual Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs, 1891 
(Washington: Government Printing Office, 1891), 331.

	357	 “if the so-called Messiah”: Miles, Serving the Republic, 238.
	357	 for his skills as a savvy Plainsman: Ibid., 145.
	357	 would at least listen to him: William F. Cody, An Autobiography of Buffalo Bill 

(New York: Cosmopolitan Book Corporation, 1920), 306.
	357	 On the afternoon of November 28: I’ve drawn upon numerous sources for 

Cody’s mission. These include “Bill and Bull,” The Bismarck Tribune, Decem-
ber 2, 1890; “Why Buffalo Bill Did Not Arrest Old Sitting Bull,” The Sioux City 
Journal, December 4, 1890; America Elmira Collins to Ethel Warner Collins, 
December 9, 1890, Eric C. Jacobsen Papers, 1883–1939, #10898, State Historical 
Society of North Dakota; Frank Fiske, “When Buffalo Bill Was at Fort Yates,” 
Sioux County Pioneer, Fort Yates, ND, January 25, 1917; Peter E. Traub, “The 
First Act of the Last Sioux Campaign,” Journal of the United States Cavalry As-
sociation 15 (April 1905): 872–79; Matthew F. Steele, “Buffalo Bill’s Bluff,” South 
Dakota Historical Collections 9 (1918): 475–85; Fiske, Life and Death of Sitting Bull, 
37–40; and Pfaller, James McLaughlin, 139–46, which includes McLaughlin’s 
telegram to the commissioner of Indian affairs and Lieut. Col. Drum’s official 
reports on Cody’s visit.

	359	 “in such a way that not a drop”: “Blocked by Benjamin,” The St. Paul Daily 
Globe, December 1, 1890.

	359	 “My telegram,” he wrote: McLaughlin, My Friend the Indian, 211.
	359	 he simply intended to shower his gifts: Some believed that Cody accepted the 

assignment from General Miles in the hopes of re-signing Sitting Bull to his 
Wild West. See Matthew F. Steele, “The Death of Sitting Bull: A Reminis-
cence,” typescript, Matthew Forney Steele Papers, 1871–1936, #10115, box 4, 
folder 20, State Historical Society of North Dakota.
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	360	 “So long as the Indians abstain”: “The Indian War Scare,” The Brooklyn Daily 
Eagle, November 29, 1890.

	360	 “Sitting Bull should be captured”: “Ready to Fight,” The Brooklyn Daily Eagle, 
December 2, 1890.

	360	 he was to make no arrests: R. V. Belt to McLaughlin, Washington, December 5, 
1890, Sixtieth Annual Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs, 333. According 
to McLaughlin, he had plans in place for his Indian police to arrest Sitting Bull 
on December 6. Report of James McLaughlin, December 24, 1890, Sixtieth An-
nual Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs, 334.

	361	 In a December 6 telegram: McLaughlin to Gen. Ruger, Standing Rock Agency, 
December 6, 1890, Sixtieth Annual Report of the Commissioner of Indian Affairs, 333.

	361	 well aware of McLaughlin’s role: Jerome A. Greene, American Carnage: Wounded 
Knee, 1890 (Norman: University of Oklahoma Press, 2014), 175–76.

	361	 “secure the person of Sitting Bull”: M. Barber to Commanding Officer, St. Paul, 
MN, December 12, 1890, Sixtieth Annual Report of the Commissioner of Indian 
Affairs, 333.

	361	 McLaughlin suggested they wait: Report of James McLaughlin, December 
24, 1890, ibid., 334; and James McLaughlin to Mary Collins, Standing Rock 
Agency, December 26, 1890, in “The Words of Winona,” Akron Beacon and Re-
publican, Akron, OH, February 14, 1891.

	362	 a letter from Sitting Bull: The earliest extant version of  this letter, a transcription 
by Walter Campbell, is in Typescript research correspondence regarding the 
death of Sitting Bull, CC, box 114, folder 6. See also Vestal, Sitting Bull, 283–84.

	362	 McLaughlin responded with a long letter: This letter, dated December 13, is 
reproduced in Usher L. Burdick, The Last Days of Sitting Bull (1941; reprint: 
Landisville, PA: Coachwhip Publications, 2011), 31–33.

	362	 John M. Carignan: “An Early Trader Is Ill,” The Kansas City Star, January 22, 
1929; “John M. Carignan, Indian Friend Dies,” Emmons County Record, Linton, 
ND, July 16, 1931; and Frank Fiske to Elmo Scott Watson, Fort Yates, North 
Dakota, March 5, 1945, Watson Papers.

	363	 Carignan dutifully wrote down: John M. Carignan to James McLaughlin, Grand 
River, ND, December 14, 1890, in Vestal, New Sources, 13–14.

	363	 proceed with the arrest at once: W. F. Drum to Assistant Adjutant General, 
Fort Yates, ND, December 17, 1890, and James McLaughlin to Herbert Welsh, 
Standing Rock Agency, ND, January 12, 1891, both in John M. Carroll, ed., The 
Arrest and Killing of Sitting Bull: A Documentary (Glendale, CA: The Arthur H. 
Clark Company, 1986), 129 and 125, respectively.

	363	 orders in English and Lakota: The original orders may be viewed on the Welch 
Dakota Papers website: https://www.welchdakotapapers.com/2011/11/sitting 
-bull-his-last-days-2/.

	364	 a short letter to Carignan: James McLaughlin to J. M. Carignan, Standing Rock 
Agency, ND, December 14, 1890, in Vestal, New Sources, 14–15.

	364	 Sitting Bull learned he would die: One Bull told of Sitting Bull’s premonition to 
an Elsia Craig, possibly an officer’s wife at Fort Yates. See Elsia Craig, “Sitting 
Bull’s Cabin,” Bismarck Daily Tribune, February 28, 1891.

	365	 Crow Foot, now sixteen, had an iron bed: One Bull diagram of Sitting Bull’s 
cabin, CC, box 105, folder 41.
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	365	 “Believing in the Ghost Dance”: As quoted in Pfaller, James McLaughlin, 398 n. 
16. Years later, One Bull would claim that Bull Head falsely accused him of 
being “a believer.” However, Chicago Herald reporter Sam Clover interviewed 
One Bull in early December 1890 and described him as “one of the leaders of 
the ghost dance.” See One Bull interview, CC, box 104, folder 11; and “Among 
Ghost Dancers,” The Sunday Ledger, Tacoma, WA, December 21, 1890, quoting 
the Chicago Herald.

	365	 Early the next morning: My reconstruction of the seriously bungled arrest of 
Sitting Bull, including quotations, is drawn primarily from these, mostly eye-
witness, accounts: Red Tomahawk in A. B. Welch, “The Battle of Standing 
Rock,” The Clover Leaf (February 1928): 33–39; Affidavit of Shoots Walking, Jan-
uary 6, 1925, E. D. Mossman Papers, #10173, State Historical Society of North 
Dakota; He Alone Is a Man statement in Vestal, New Sources, 45–55; Swift 
Hawk statement in “Swift Hawk’s Story,” Akron Beacon and Republican, OH, 
January 10, 1891; Scarlet Whirlwind Woman interview, CC, box 105, folder 41; 
One Bull interviews, CC, box 104, folder 11, and box 105, folder 41; Gray Eagle 
interview, CC, box 106, folder 54; Little Soldier interview, CC, box 104, folder 
6; Weasel Bear interview, CC, box 105, folder 20; Otter Robe interview, CC, 
box 106, folder 54; White Bird interview, CC, box 105, folder 12; Grover Eagle 
Boy interview, CC, box 106, folder 54; One Elk interview, CC, box 106, folder 
54; Old Bull interview, box 105, folder 36; Black Hills statement, E. D. Mossman 
Papers, #10173, State Historical Society of North Dakota; interviews of He 
Alone Is a Man, Four Robes, Gray Eagle, One Bull, and Scarlet Whirlwind 
Woman in Carroll, ed., The Arrest and Killing of Sitting Bull, 67–77; “Who Killed 
Sitting Bull?,” Bismarck Weekly Tribune, December 26, 1890; John M. Carignan 
narrative in Fiske, Life and Death of Sitting Bull, 45–51; and James McLaughlin 
report, December 24, 1890, Sixtieth Annual Report of the Commissioner of Indian 
Affairs, 333–38.

	368	 She was singing a brave song: Historians and others have frequently written 
that Crow Foot goaded his father into resisting, and some Metal Breast ac-
counts do claim this. However, the eyewitness accounts of Four Robes, Scarlet 
Whirlwind Woman, Good Voiced Eagle, Weasel Bear, and Gray Eagle state 
Crow Foot said nothing. The brave song quote is from Frank Zahn, in notes 
to an interview of One Bull he conducted on behalf of Walter Campbell. Zahn 
attributes the song to “one of Sitting Bull’s wives.” In a biographical sketch of 
Bull Head, Josephine Waggoner identifies her as “Sitting Bull’s oldest wife,” 
which was Whole Tribe Seeing Her. Zahn further states that the account of 
the wife singing the brave song was “verified by Little Soldier (living), also 
a number of others.” Frank Zahn notes in One Bull interview, CC, box 104, 
folder 11; and Josephine Waggoner, “Lieut. Henry Bullhead Jr., Tatomkapa,” 
Pioneer Biography Files.

	369	 fired at Bull Head: The vast majority of the eyewitness accounts state that 
Catch the Bear fired the opening shot. However, a very few accounts—Scarlet 
Whirlwind Woman being a prime example—claim that Bull Head shot Sit-
ting Bull first, thus precipitating the fight.

	369	 leaving a jagged, two-inch hole: This comes from the Shoots Walking affidavit. 
As with all the accounts that have been left us from this episode, both Indian 

110



and white, there are several contradictions in important details. McLaughlin 
wrote in his official report that Bull Head’s slug entered on the left side be-
tween the tenth and eleventh ribs, and that there was no exit wound. Fred P. 
Caldwell, a member of the Eight Cavalry, recalled that Sitting Bull had a gun-
shot wound “in front and center of body about two inches below where neck 
joins body; I think it passed through lower part of collar bone.” He was certain 
that the chief wasn’t shot in the head. However, Caldwell also wrote that Sit-
ting Bull’s head was “pounded all out of shape,” which causes one to wonder 
how he could determine there was no bullet wound in that bloody mess. F. P. 
Caldwell to W. M. Camp, Maltby, SD, May 12, 1914, Robert S. Ellison/Walter 
Camp Papers, DPL, box 1, folder 130.

	370	 ride the Buffalo Bill horse: An oft-repeated tale has the Buffalo Bill horse per-
forming “tricks” when the shooting started, the gunfire supposedly fooling 
the horse into thinking it was back in Cody’s Wild West. This myth first ap-
pears in Vestal’s Sitting Bull, originally published in 1932, in which Vestal de-
scribed the animal as a “circus horse.” But Cody’s gift to Sitting Bull wasn’t a 
“circus horse” that performed tricks; it was a saddle mount. And not one of 
the many eyewitness accounts left by Metal Breasts and Sitting Bull’s follow-
ers mention this strange performance. See William E. Lemons, “History by 
Unreliable Narrators: Sitting Bull’s Circus Horse,” Montana The Magazine of 
Western History 45 (Autumn–Winter 1995): 64–74.

	371	 the command of Captain Edmond G. Fechet: Capt. Fechet’s official report on 
the operations of his battalion is found in Carroll, ed., The Arrest and Killing of 
Sitting Bull, 133–42. He later published an article titled “The True Story of the 
Death of Sitting Bull,” Cosmopolitan 20 (March 1896): 493–501. I’ve also drawn 
on accounts left by those who served in Fechet’s command. These are George 
B. DuBois to George Thomas, Fort Yates, December 18, 1890, George B. Du-
bois Collection, MSS 215, History Colorado; Lieut. Stephen Slocum interview 
in “Sitting Bull’s Death,” The Cincinnati Enquirer, OH, February 20, 1892; 
F. P. Caldwell to W. M. Camp, May 12 and June 6, 1914, Robert S. Ellison/
Walter Camp Papers, DPL, Box 1, folder 130; and Steele, “The Death of Sitting 
Bull: A Reminiscence.” The account of an unnamed newspaper correspon-
dent who accompanied the battalion is “Who Killed Sitting Bull?,” Bismarck 
Weekly Tribune, December 26, 1890. We also have a letter from a member of a 
detachment under command of Lieut. Col. Drum that met Fechet’s returning 
column twenty-two miles from Fort Yates. See Allen Siegert to Friend Gaetke, 
Fort Yates, December 17, 1890, Allen Siegert Papers, #20603, State Historical 
Society of North Dakota.

	373	 Both were taken prisoner: James McLaughlin report on the capture and death 
of Sitting Bull, Standing Rock Agency, December 16, 1890, National Archives, 
Washington, D.C., available for viewing online at https://catalog.archives 
.gov/id/300326?q=sitting%20bull%20arrest; “Sitting Bull’s Death,” The Evening 
Star, December 22, 1890; and “Was Bull Murdered?,” and “Who Killed Sitting 
Bull?,” both in Bismarck Weekly Tribune, December 26, 1890. McLaughlin’s orig-
inal report doesn’t name the son of Jumping Bull. He refers to him as “ ‘Mid-
dle’ son of Little Assiniboine [ Jumping Bull].” Of Jumping Bull’s three sons, 
the “middle” son was Protecting Others While Running, and he would have 
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been twenty-one or very close in December 1890. See Dickson, The Sitting Bull 
Surrender Census, 71. Matthew Steele wrote years later that it was Sitting Bull’s 
deaf stepson, John Sitting Bull, who was hiding under the thick bedding. See 
his “The Death of Sitting Bull,” and Matthew F. Steele to Elmo Scott Watson, 
Fargo, ND, February 15, 1944, Watson Papers.

	374	 One Bull’s freighting outfit: Direct descendants of Sitting Bull have long be-
lieved that One Bull played a prominent role in Sitting Bull’s death. Sitting 
Bull’s great-grandson, Ernie LaPointe, writes that it was One Bull who deliv-
ered the news to Agent McLaughlin that Sitting Bull was preparing to leave 
for Pine Ridge. However, this claim is not supported by the evidence, which 
tells us that One Bull was engaged in freighting to Standing Rock at the time 
McLaughlin received word of Sitting Bull’s plans. And McLaughlin clearly 
states that the report was delivered by Hawk Man, not One Bull. And while 
One Bull had indeed acted as an informer for McLaughlin in the past, as well 
as serving as a Metal Breast, it’s clear that One Bull lost favor with McLaugh-
lin by participating in the Ghost Dance. McLaughlin, as stated in my narra-
tive, immediately removed One Bull from the force. Additional evidence of 
One Bull’s association with the Ghost Dance comes from Red Tomahawk. In 
his account of the arrest attempt, Red Tomahawk refers to One Bull as “a hos-
tile dancer.” See LaPointe, Sitting Bull, 95–101; and Red Tomahawk in Welch, 
“The Battle of Standing Rock,” 35.

	375	 “Father, I thought you said we were all going to live”: As quoted in Frank Zahn 
to W. S. Campbell, August 6, 1933, Fort Yates, Zahn correspondence, CC, box 
107, folder 5. Capt. Fechet mentioned this incident in his article for Cosmopoli-
tan, cited above, and stated that the Ghost Dancer was later killed at Wounded 
Knee. Fechet’s commander, Lieut. Col. Drum, also references the daring rider 
in a letter to McLaughlin of February 26, 1891, in Vestal, New Sources, 33. Zahn 
identifies him as Crow Woman. Interestingly, Sergeant George DuBois wrote 
that while he was on picket duty that day, a loan rider approached Sitting Bull’s 
place. The “whole camp opened up” on him but missed. DuBois claimed to have 
fired three times at the rider at a distance of about five hundred yards. On the 
third shot, the rider threw up his hands, and DuBois saw a riderless pony going 
over the hills. According to DuBois, some Metal Breasts later took a wagon out 
and brought in a dead Indian. DuBois’s claim of hitting a moving target at five 
hundred yards is extremely far-fetched, and Crow Woman is not among the 
list of Indians killed in McLaughlin’s December 16 report. DuBois to George 
Thomas, Fort Yates, December 18, 1890, George B. Dubois Collection.

Epilogue

	377	 “But I think I understand him”: Henry Herbert Knibbs, “The Walking Man,” 
in Songs of the Outlands: Ballads of the Hoboes and Other Verse (Boston: Houghton 
Miflin Company, 1914), 6.

	377	 “Sometimes death can defeat disgrace”: Waggoner, “Lieut. Henry Bullhead Jr., 
Tatomkapa.”
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	377	 At 4:30 p.m. on December 16: Report of H. M. Deeble, post surgeon, Fort Yates, 
ND, January 23, 1891, in Burdick, The Last Days of Sitting Bull, 169.

	377	 the post surgeon cut off a small braid: “Sitting Bull’s Death,” Buffalo Courier, 
December 20, 1893. Sometime before June 30, 1896, Deeble donated the braid 
or scalp lock and leggings to the Smithsonian Institution. These items were 
returned to Sitting Bull’s descendants in 2007. “List of Accessions,” Annual 
report of the Board of Regents of the Smithsonian Institution, showing the operations, 
expenditures, and condition of the institution for the year ending June 30, 1896; Re-
port of the U.S. National Museum, H. Doc. No. 352, 54th Cong., 2nd Sess., 121; 
LaPointe, Sitting Bull, 132–42; and “Property to Go to Warrior’s Kin,” Detroit 
Free Press, September 19, 2007.

	377	 His breechclout, shirt, additional items: T. J. Thompson interview, CC, box 106, 
folder 54.

	377	 what remained of his hair: August Von Clossman to The St. Louis Times, St. 
Louis, May 21, 1907, typescript, August Von Clossman Papers, H74-043, South 
Dakota State Historical Society, Pierre.

	377	 retrieved two cabinet card photographs: The hospital steward was forty-seven-
year-old August Von Clossman (1843–1916). In his 1907 letter to The St. Louis 
Times, cited above, he wrote that he removed the two cabinet cards from Sit-
ting Bull’s “coat pocket.” A contemporary ink inscription on the cabinet card 
picturing the child, presumably in Von Clossman’s hand, also states that it 
came from the chief ’s pocket and that it was covered with his blood. The 
photographs are part of the August Von Clossman Papers. For biographical in-
formation on Von Clossman, see “Military Burial Given Veteran of Six Wars,” 
The St. Louis Star, MO, October 25, 1916; and “Preferred Army Life and Her 
Home in Carondelet to European Honors,” St. Louis Post-Dispatch, MO, Janu-
ary 14, 1901.

	377	 autographed portrait of “Captain Jack”: Crawford inscribed the cabinet card to 
Sitting Bull, but he didn’t date the inscription. The Poet Scout may have gifted 
the photo to the chief in September 1883. According to James McLaughlin, 
Crawford was in attendance at the laying of the cornerstone of the Dakota 
territorial capitol, at which time Crawford attempted to introduce Sitting Bull 
to former President Grant. Grant, claimed McLaughlin, “stared coldly at [Sit-
ting Bull] and then at Crawford and without further notice of either of them, 
continued smiling and shaking hands with the crowd.” “Maj. McLaughlin’s 
Story,” The Sioux City Journal, April 4, 1899.

	378	 naked body was sewn up in canvas: Report of H. M. Deeble, post surgeon, Fort 
Yates, ND, January 23, 1891.

	378	 fabricated by the agency carpenter: Edward Forte to Frank Fiske, Johnson City, 
TN, November 7, 1932, in Fiske, Life and Death of Sitting Bull, 53–56. In this let-
ter, Forte writes, “I made the coffin in which Sitting Bull was buried, regard-
less of what anybody says about it.” Forte received the appointment of agency 
carpenter in October 1890, notice of which is in R.  V. Belt to McLaughlin, 
Washington, D.C., October 22, 1890, Standing Rock, Misc. Correspondence 
Received, 1864–, RG 75, NA-KC. Josephine Waggoner’s husband, John Frank-
lin “Frank” Waggoner, a soldier in the Twelfth U.S. Infantry at the time of 
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Sitting Bull’s death, also claimed to have made the coffin. And he claimed 
that quicklime and acid were poured over the chief ’s body. However, I’ve not 
found Frank Waggoner to be at all reliable. In fact, Fort Yates photographer 
Frank Fiske considered Waggoner an outright liar. For Frank Waggoner’s ac-
count, see Waggoner, Witness, 409. And for Frank Fiske’s very low opinion 
of Waggoner’s veracity, see Fiske to Elmo Scott Watson, Fort Yates, North 
Dakota, April 9, 1945, Watson Papers. 

	378	 northwest corner of the fort’s graveyard: Fiske, Life and Death of Sitting Bull, 53; 
Report of H. M. Deeble, post surgeon, Fort Yates, ND, January 23, 1891; and 
Plan of Post Cemetery, Fort Yates, in Waggoner, Witness, 412–13.

	378	 Agent McLaughlin walked up: Report of James McLaughlin, Fort Yates, Janu-
ary 27, 1891, in Burdick, The Last Days of Sitting Bull, 170.

	378	 disappeared with his blanket-wrapped corpse: Victoria Conroy statement in 
Hardorff, The Oglala Lakota Crazy Horse, 29–30; Horn Chips interview, Har-
dorff, ed., Surrender and Death, 86–88; and Red Feather interview, Hinman In-
terviews, 36.

	378	 moving the chief’s bones: Horn Chips interview, Hardorff, ed., Surrender and 
Death, 86–88; and Horn Chips interview, Jensen, Voices of the American West, 1: 
276–77.

	378	 is an enduring mystery: An interesting account of one person’s quest to locate 
Crazy Horse’s final resting place is Walstrom, Search for the Lost Trail of Crazy 
Horse.

	379	 the man superintending the removal: What follows is based on two letters by 
Frank J. Ecker: Ecker to W. M. Camp, Fort Yates, ND, December 29, 1909, 
in Kenneth Hammer, “Sitting Bull’s Bones,” Research Review: The Journal of 
the Little Big Horn Associates 15 (Winter 2001): 7–8; and Ecker to W. M. Camp, 
Humboldt, SK, Canada, May 25, 1914, Robert S. Ellison/Walter Camp Papers, 
DPL, Box 1, folder 128. 

	379	 Frank claimed the bones were stolen: In his 1933 book, Life and Death of Sitting 
Bull, Frank Fiske spins a rather remarkable tale about how he and a friend 
dug down to Sitting Bull’s coffin one night “several years” after Fort Yates 
was abandoned. Fiske wrote that they used a pick and a shovel, and they took 
turns digging so that one of them could always keep a lookout. Fiske claimed 
they dug a hole big enough for one person, and when the coffin was reached, 
the rotten side was pushed in and a large thigh bone and rib retrieved. They 
then replaced the dirt and the sod so that no one would ever know of their 
grave robbing. This story strains credulity. It hardly seems possible that the 
hole could be dug and refilled in the short time Fiske indicates (while a dance 
was taking place in the agency hall)—the grave was eight feet deep, per the 
report of the post surgeon. I have a strong suspicion that Fiske and his ac-
complice obtained their Sitting Bull “relics” when the grave was opened by 
Ecker in 1908—and very likely with Ecker’s knowledge. According to the 
1910 federal census for Standing Rock, Fiske and Ecker were next-door neigh-
bors. And Fiske was the community’s only professional photographer. One of 
Fiske’s specialties was photographic postcards. Recall that Ecker claimed to 
have had photographic postcards made of Sitting Bull’s bones. Ecker wrote in 
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the 1914 letter cited above that “I know the men that stole [the bones], and just 
who has them now.” Fiske claimed in 1933 that he’d since reburied his thigh 
bone at Sitting Bull’s grave. However, in a 1948 newspaper interview, Fiske 
said he still retained one of the chief ’s bones. A humerus donated to the State 
Historical Society of North Dakota by Fiske’s widow in 1954 was determined 
to be from a female aged between seventeen and twenty-two years. “Thru the 
Hills,” Rapid City Journal, May 6, 1948; and Robert C. Hollow Jr., “The History 
of Sitting Bull’s Remains,” typescript, box 28, folder 12, Historical Society Ad-
ministration Superintendent’s Correspondence, #3023, State Historical Soci-
ety of North Dakota. 

	379	 the light of day in 1931: Hollow, “The History of Sitting Bull’s Remains”; Rob-
ert  C. Hollow Jr. and Herbert T. Hoover, The Last Years of Sitting Bull (Bis-
marck: State Historical Society of North Dakota, 1984), 60; “Fort Yates Sitting 
Bull Monument Being Planned,” The Bismarck Tribune, July 20, 1962; and Robb 
DeWall, The Saga of Sitting Bull’s Bones (Crazy Horse, SD: Korczak’s Heritage, 
Inc., 1984), 133.

	380	 neglect shown their ancestor’s grave: The grave had indeed been neglected for 
decades. See “Sitting Bull’s Grave Pathetic Spot on Prairie,” The Bismarck Tri-
bune, October 4, 1918.

	380	 “the white man’s red tape”: Clarence Gray Eagle quoted in the Rapid City Jour-
nal, April 9, 1953.

	380	 off to a corner of the plot: DeWall, The Saga of Sitting Bull’s Bones, 133.
	380	 but otherwise intact: Ibid., 100. Information on the condition of the skull is 

contradictory. Some contemporary accounts state it was in pieces. However, 
DeWall’s sources included individuals who participated in the removal of the 
bones. 

	380	 made national headlines: See, for example, “Sitting Bull’s Bones Make Bad 
Medicine for Dakotas,” Daily News, New York, NY, April 19, 1953. 

	381	 “They did a pretty sloppy job”: “Indian Tries Selling Old Bones in Bismarck,” 
Rapid City Journal, April 9, 1953.

	381	 unearthed by the Corps of Engineers: Hollow, “The History of Sitting Bull’s 
Remains”; and “Does Anyone Know Where Sitting Bull Is?,” The Bismarck Tri-
bune, October 6, 1984. The flood mitigation work is referenced in “Bids Exam-
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